
 
 

SACRE 
 

3.45 pm TUESDAY, 26TH NOVEMBER, 2019 
CONFERENCE ROOM 1 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the  

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 

on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Election of Chair and Vice Chair   

2. Apologies for absence   

3. Declaration of Interests   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

4. Introduction by the new Advisor   

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 4 June 2019  3 - 4 

6. Matters Arising   

7. Constitution / Membership Update  5 - 10 

8. Approval of Annual Report 2018-2019  11 - 40 

9. Updates from WASACRE and NAPfRE   

10. Welsh Government Consultation on ensuring full 
access to the Curriculum  

 

 - Previously e-mailed by Karen Reddy 
requesting responses before the 
consultation closing date of the 28th 
November 2019. 

 

41 - 58 

11. Self-evaluation and development plan   

12. Views on cross SACRE working   

13. Dates and venues for future meetings   

14. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 

  
COMPOSITION:  
 Councillors:  E Galsworthy, Rev. M Prevett, D Hughes, 

M Jones and I Thomas 
 

Professional Associations: 
S Bernard Henderson, L McCarthy, J Jones, K Thomas 
and L Draper 
 

Faith Communities: 
D O'Keefe, A Pitt, A Star and J Brill, 
 

S Bowen and A Hill 
  

together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 

SACRE MEETING 
 

TUESDAY, 4TH JUNE, 2019 
 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors:    E Galsworthy (Chair) 
                        Rev. M Prevett (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors:     C Davies, D Hughes and I Thomas 
  
 Professional Associations: 

(none) 
 
Faith Communities: 
D O'Keefe 

  
Officers: 
M Turford (Consultant for Merthyr SACRE) 
 

 K Reddy (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

AGENDA MATTER DECISION 

63   Apologies for absence Apologies for absence received from Sian Bernard 
Henderson, Lee-anne McCarthy, Mark Carrington, Lucy 
Draper, Andy Pitt, Ann Star and Sarah Bowen.  
 
As there is no teacher representation in attendance, the 
Chair confirmed that the meeting is inquorate. 

Delegated Function 
 

Although it has been confirmed that the meeting is inquorate, the Chair advised members that 
he has delegated authority to take such decisions as are appropriate. 
 
The following items were therefore discussed and agreed by the Chair and members of the 
Committee in attendance: 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
   

 

 Karen Reddy to advise committee members that the next meeting will be held on 
Tuesday, 15

th
 October 2019 at 4.00 pm in Conference Room 1 at the Civic Centre.  

 

 Rachel Samuel be nominated by Merthyr SACRE for the position of Vice Chair of the 
Executive Committee.  
 

 Mark Prevett and Mathew Maidment be nominated by Merthyr SACRE for 
membership of the Executive Committee. 
 

 Development Plan to be progressed by Maggie Turford.  
 

64   Declaration of Interest  

65   Minutes of Previous 
Meeting held on 19th 
March 2019 

 

66   Matters Arising  

67   Constitution/membersh
ip udpate  -  if required 

 

68   Self-evaluation and 
Development Planning 

 

69   RE in the curriculum  

70   Pioneer School input  

71   Inspection Synopsis 
until second half 
summer term 2019 

 

72   WASACRE Issues:  

73   Annual Report process  

74   Correspondence  

75   Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair 

 

 
 

 

Page 4



 

 

 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  

 
Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education 

 
Constitution 

Terms of reference 
 
1. To advise the LA on matters connected with collective worship in county 

schools. 
 
2. To advise the LA on matters connected with religious education which is 

given in accordance with the agreed syllabus. 
 
3. To decide when, within the five year statutory time scale, the LA should 

review its agreed syllabus. 
 
4. To consider with the LA and the Agreed Syllabus Conference any 

changes required to the agreed syllabus. 
 
5. To consider with the LA the support offered to religious education in its 

schools, with particular regard to methods of teaching, the choice of 
teaching materials and the provision of training for teachers. 

 
6. To offer advice on any other matters related to its function as it sees fit. 
 
7. To publish an annual report on its work, which should: 
 

a.  specify any matters on which it has advised the LA; 
b.  broadly describe the nature of the advice; 
c.  set out its reasons for offering advice on any matters which were not 

referred to it in the first place by the LA; and 
d.  record the membership of SACRE and the dates of meetings held. 

 
8. To participate in the LA’s statutory complaints procedures in those 

instances where the complaints relate to religious education and/or 
collective worship. 

 
9. To receive and make determinations in respect of applications from 

headteachers of county schools for the lifting or modifying of the 
requirements that collective worship in such schools must be wholly or 
mainly of a broadly Christian character. 
 

Composition 
 
10. The council shall comprise three groups representing: 
 

a.  Such Christian and other religious denominations as, in the opinion 
of the LA will appropriately reflect the religious traditions in the area.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

b.  Such associations representing teachers as, in the opinion of the LA, 
ought to be represented having regard to the circumstances of the 
area. 

 
c.  The LA. 

 
11. The Council may also co-opt members. 
 
12. Membership of the Council shall be for a period of four years. Any 

outgoing members may be re-appointed. 
 
13. Membership of the Council is subject to the condition that the LA has 

taken all reasonable steps to assure itself that the persons appointed are 
representative, as the case may be, of the denominations or 
associations in question. 

 
14. Members representing associations of teachers must include teachers of 

religious education. 
 
15. Individuals may be removed from the Council if they cease to be 

representative of the denomination, association or of the Authority they 
were appointed to represent. 

 
16. Any member of the Council may at any time resign his or her office. 
 
Proceedings 
 
17. The Council shall meet not less than once in each school term. 
 
18. The Council shall elect from its membership a chairperson and vice 

chairperson at the first meeting in each academic year. The chairperson 
and vice chairperson in any one year shall not be drawn from the same 
representative group. An outgoing chairperson may be re-appointed. 

 
19. On any question to be decided by the Council only the representative 

groups on the Council shall be entitled to vote, and each group shall 
have a single vote. Before a formal vote is taken opportunity shall be 
given to each representative group to determine how its vote is to be 
cast.  

 
20. Co-opted members are not entitled to vote. 

 
21. The agenda for each meeting shall be determined by the chairperson 

and vice chairperson in consultation with the clerk to SACRE, Director of 
Education and Professional Officer. Any voting member of SACRE shall 
be entitled to propose items for an agenda. 

 
22. In the case of any member not being able to attend a Council meeting, a 

substitute may be nominated by the body which that person represents, 

Page 6



 

3 
 

provided that the substitute meets the eligibility criteria and the 
Education Directorate of the LA is notified in advance of the meeting. 

 
23. A meeting of the Council will be deemed to be quorate if at least one 

member of each of the three representative groups is present. 
 
24. The validity of proceedings of the Council shall not be affected: 
 

a.  by a vacancy in the office of any member of the Council or 
 
b. on the grounds that a member of the Council appointed to represent 

any denomination or association does not, at the time of the 
proceedings, represent the denomination or association in question. 

 
25. The representative groups on the Council, other than that representing 

the Authority, may call, at any time, for a review of the agreed syllabus 
current in the Authority. At such time an Agreed Syllabus Conference 
shall be constituted and convened. 

 
26. The Council shall consider its annual report at the first meeting to be 

held in each academic year. Upon the Council’s ratification of the report 
it shall proceed to publication. 

 
27. The clerk to the SACRE shall arrange for copies of the annual report to 

be sent to all county schools within the Authority, to DfES, the National 
Library and to such other individuals and institutions as the LA sees fit. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Updated 28.10.2019  

 

METHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MEMBERSHIP UPDATE 
 

 
 
LOCAL AUTHORITY 
 

Councillor Ernie Galsworthy  (Chair) Local Authority 
Councillor David Hughes Local Authority 
Councillor Ian Thomas Local Authority 
Councillor Michelle Jones Local Authority 
 
TEACHER ASSOCIATIONS 
 

Vacancy RE Teachers’ Association  
 
 

Sian Bernard-Henderson/  
Lee-anne McCarthy 

National Union of Teachers 
Cyfarthfa High School 
 

Vacancy UCAC 
 
Vacancy 

 
Secondary Heads Association 

 
Vacancy 
Justine Jones 

 
NAS/UWT 
NAS/UWT 

 
Katy Thomas  

 
Association of College Managers 
 

Mark Carrington  (Resigned) NAHT  
Twynyrodyn Community 
School 

 
Lucy Draper 

 
Association of Teachers and Lecturers 
Pen-y-Dre High School 

 

 
RELIGIOUS DENOMINATIONS 
 

Deacon David O’Keefe  Roman Catholic Church 
Andy Pitt Evangelical Church 
Ann Starr Presbyterian Church/United Reform 

Church (URC) 
Father Mark Prevett  (Vice Chair) Church in Wales 
Janine Brill  Salvation Army 
  
LA OFFICERS 
 

Sarah Bowen     Inclusion and Wellbeing Manager 
Karen Reddy     Clerk to SACRE 
Angela Hill                           Independent RE Consultant 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 
Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education 
 
 

Annual Report 2018 - 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



 

2 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
 
 

ANNUAL REPORT 2018- 2019 
 
 
 

CONTENTS                           PAGE 
 
           
Composition, roles and responsibilities of SACRE     3 
 
 

Executive summary              4 
 

 
Summary of advice to the local authority on       7 
religious education                     
 
 

Summary of advice on collective worship     11 
 
 

Summary of other issues        12 
 

 
Appendix 1:   Membership of SACRE      14 
 

 
Appendix 2:   Record of meetings                                            15 
 

 
Appendix 3:   Summary of examination results 2016- 2018 and                    17 
                      Year 9 teacher assessments 2018                                                   
 

              
Appendix 4:    Circulation of the report                                                           20 
 

 
Appendix 5:   Constitution of SACRE       21 
 
 

Appendix 6:   Development plan         24 
 
 

 
  

Page 12



 

3 
 

COMPOSITION, ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF SACRE 
 

COMPOSITION OF SACRE 
 
 
The membership of the Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education is determined 
by the Education Acts of 1944, 1993 and the Education Reform Act of 1988. SACRE has 
three constituent groups, each group being entitled to one vote: 

 Christian denominations and other religions and religious denominations; 

 associations representing teachers; and 

 the local authority (LA). 
 
The members representing each of these groups for 2018- 2019 are listed in Appendix 1. 
 
THE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF SACRE  
 
The main function of a SACRE is to: 

 advise the LA about religious education and collective worship; 

 require the authority to review the agreed syllabus; 

 consider applications from schools for determinations (to be exempt from the 
requirement that worship be “Christian”); 

 publish an annual report on its work; and 

 play a part in the local statutory complaints procedure where cases are referred to it 
relating to religious education or collective worship.  

 
Advice may relate to: 

 methods of teaching; 

 the choice of teaching materials; 

 the provision of teacher training; and 

 any other matter relating to religious education and collective worship which 
SACRE considers appropriate. 

 
RECORD OF MEETINGS 
 
Three meetings of SACRE were held in the academic year 2018- 2019: 

 23rd October 2018 at the Civic Centre  

 19th March 2019 at the Civic Centre  

 4th June 2019 at the Civic Centre  
 
A record of the main agenda items discussed during the meetings is to be found in 
Appendix 2.  
 
CIRCULATION OF REPORT 
 
Copies of this report have been circulated to the organisations/establishments listed in 
Appendix 5. 

Page 13



 

4 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
 
Summary of the advice given to the LA by SACRE  

RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 

 
Aim: To monitor standards and provision in religious education 
 
Action 
. 

1. SACRE considers and analyses school inspection reports. If there are any issues 
regarding religious education, such as the non-fulfilment of statutory requirements, 
the LA follows this up. There were five primary schools and one secondary school 
inspected and reported on from February 2018 until June 2019.  These inspection 
reports were considered at two of the SACRE meetings held during the academic 
year. 

 
2. SACRE only comments on those schools which are non-denominational and 

maintained by the local authority. Denominational schools fall outside of the SACRE 
remit. 
 

3. SACRE writes to schools after analysing inspection outcomes. The letter includes 
congratulations on good results.   

 
4. Comments were generally positive stating that curriculum and statutory 

requirements were met. There were no recommendations relating to religious 
education identified in the reports and therefore no follow up action was necessary. 

 
5. SACRE analyses examination results over a three year period and identifies trends 

in performance benchmarked against All Wales and Consortia data.  
 

6. The LA and its SACRE gather and analyse data regarding key stage 3 teacher 
assessment in religious education.  This information is presented to SACRE and 
benchmarked against Consortia data. This information is then sent to all secondary 
schools in the LA.   

 
AGREED SYLLABUS 
 
Aim: To fulfil the legal requirement to review the agreed syllabus for religious education 
 
Action 
 

1. In 2008 Merthyr Tydfil SACRE adopted a new agreed syllabus for the authority‟s 
schools to be implemented from September 2008. All schools received a 
programme of Inset in summer 2008 and received a package of support materials, 
including schemes of work. Electronic Progress in Learning files for primary and 
secondary schools were issued to schools to exemplify the new syllabus.  

Page 14



 

5 
 

2. In June 2013 Standing Conference endorsed the re-adoption of the Merthyr Tydfil 
agreed syllabus for religious education with an understanding that the syllabus 
would be reviewed once further information is received in relation to the 
assessment and National Curriculum review. 

 
3. Since 2013 and throughout the academic year 2018-2019 SACRE has been 

updated on a termly basis of developments with the national Curriculum review and 
the place of RE within a Humanities curriculum. SACRE is awaiting further details 
from Welsh Government on the shape of RE in the curriculum, and advice from 
WASACRE, before beginning any RE agreed syllabus review.  
 

4. SACRE members have been fully involved in consultation and feedback on the new 
curriculum and, in particular, the place of RE within the Humanities section and 
overall. 

 
TEACHING MATERIALS 
 
Aim: To ensure that schools are informed of suitable teaching resources 
 
Action 
 
The following resources and information were provided to schools during 2017-2018. No 
additional materials were specifically provided during 2018-9 other than WG 
documentation and HMD material 
 

1. All schools were informed of the 2019 Holocaust Memorial Day theme and that 
Holocaust resources can be found on their website www.hmd.org.uk   
 

2. Managing the Right of Withdrawal from RE published by WASACRE.  
 

3. Information on the New Curriculum, the Estyn Thematic Review, WJEC updates, 
were provided to schools. 

 
4. Information on visits and visitors in South Wales was distributed to schools. 

 
5. The CYTÛN POLICY BULLETIN was shared with schools.  

 
6. The Newsletter of the Religious Education Council of England and Wales.  

 
7. Diversity of Religion and Belief: A guidance resource pack for primary schools in 

England and Wales published by Cardiff University School of Social Science.  
 
TRAINING FOR TEACHERS 
 
Aim: To ensure that teachers are able to access appropriate continuing professional 
development 
 
 

Page 15

http://www.hmd.org.uk/


 

6 
 

Action 
 
The local authority, via Central South Consortium, offers CPD for schools. With the current 
Welsh Assembly Government‟s emphasis on Literacy and no subject specific training on 
RE is on offer. 
 
COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 
 
Aim: To ensure that schools fulfil statutory requirements for collective worship and provide 
a worthwhile experience for pupils.  
 
Action 
 

1. SACRE monitors the sections of inspection reports that are concerned with 
collective worship and spiritual, moral, social and cultural development. If there are 
any issues such as the non-fulfilment of statutory requirements the LA follows this 
up. The inspection reports of five Merthyr primary schools and one secondary 
school were scrutinised. There was no non fulfilment of statutory requirements 
identified in the reports and therefore no follow up action was necessary.   

 
2. Schools have been informed by SACRE of appropriate resources and websites that 

support collective worship in schools e.g. HMD 2019  
 

OTHER ISSUES:  
 
Aim: To ensure a more informed SACRE through providing regular updates on local and 
national issues. 
 
Action: 
 
1. SACRE has maintained its membership of the Wales Association of SACREs 

(WASACRE) and receives termly feedback from meetings of the association.  
 

2. Members have received various presentations and reports this year 
 

3. The consultant to SACRE gave presentations on developments in the New Curriculum 
for Wales and the place of RE within this.   

 
4. A teacher from a Pioneer school presented to members on the new RE curriculum 

during the summer meeting 2019 
 

  

Page 16



 

7 
 

SUMMARY OF ADVICE TO THE LOCAL AUTHORITY ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
 

 
The local agreed syllabus 
 
During the spring term 2008 Standing Conference endorsed and adopted a new agreed 
syllabus for the authority‟s schools to be implemented from September 2008. A yearly 
programme of INSET on the agreed syllabus and support materials, including schemes of 
work and electronic Progress in Learning files for secondary schools, were issued to 
primary and secondary schools.  
 
Curriculum Review 
 
SACRE has received termly updates on curriculum development and will continue to 
monitor further developments in the curriculum review and respond accordingly on an 
ongoing basis as appropriate. RE is a statutory curriculum requirement from nursery up to 
age 16. In the new curriculum RE will form part of the Humanities Area of Learning and 
Experience. During 2017-2018 Welsh Government sent a termly newsletter to SACREs 
outlining the developmental work of the Pioneer Schools in relation to RE in the 
Humanities.  
 
The Welsh Government has continued to indicate they would like a two way dialogue with 
SACREs on their views on RE in the new curriculum. In newsletters to SACREs Welsh 
Government outlined the „What Matters‟ approach that has been adopted for designing the 
new curriculum for Wales and shared some initial drafts from the Humanities group with 
SACRE. The Humanities AoLE pioneer group has been regularly refining their “What 
Matters” statements and accompanying rationales. The frameworks shared with SACRE 
reflect the work undertaken so far in relation to progression. 
 
The Welsh Government has continued to invite feedback from SACRE on the latest 
proposals at two points during 2018-2019. SACRE discussed the proposals both during 
meetings and via further responses that were sent to the consultant, Maggie Turford. She 
then collated the responses and forwarded them to Welsh Government on behalf of 
SACRE.  
  
The Welsh Government will continue to clarify the relationship between the Humanities 
AoLE and the locally agreed syllabus during 2019-2020 and will be working closely with 
representatives from WASACRE and NAPfRE to develop proposals. 
 
The Consultant shared the following concerns with the Welsh Government: 
 

 SACRE did not want the subject diluted in the new curriculum 

 That the subject was to be taught by non-specialists 

 It pupils were taught by non-specialists they would experience difficulty with the 
challenge of discipline specific qualifications aged 14-16.   

 Specialist teachers are required to deliver RE.  
 
 

Page 17



 

8 
 

Standards in religious education 
 
SACRE has adopted a number of strategies for monitoring standards achieved in religious 
education in the authority‟s schools that include analysing school inspection reports, 
reviewing examination results and analysing end of key stage 3 data. Full details of all 
outcomes are to be found in  Appendix. (GCSE and Key Stage 3) 
 
Examination results 
 
SACRE considered examination performance in the secondary schools for 2018. The 
examination results are compared with the All Wales and Consortium figures and with the 
results of the previous years. SACRE members are also informed of the percentage of the 
year 11 cohort being entered for the religious studies GCSE examinations (specification A 
and B).   
 
GCSE Full Course in Religious Education 2018 outcomes 
 
NARRATIVE 

 

 There was a small decrease in entries for the GCSE Religious Studies course in 

2018 with 159 candidates from 43 schools. In 2017 there were 162 candidates from 

4 schools and learners in Education Other than at School.  In 2018 there was a 

decrease in the All Wales figure from 12401 students entered in 2017. 

 The cohort entry for Merthyr Tydfil in 2018 was 27.8% which is slightly lower than in 
2017. 

 The overall % of A* - G grades for Merthyr Tydfil is 100 % which is higher than the 

previous two years. The Consortium performance is the marginally lower. The All 

Wales figure of 97.4 % is also slightly lower. 

 The overall % of A* - C grades for Merthyr Tydfil is 74.2% which is higher than the 

figures in both 2016 and 2017. Performance at A* - C of 65.4% in Merthyr Tydfil is 

higher than the Consortium figure and the All Wales figures. 

 The overall % of A* - A grades for Merthyr Tydfil is 27.7% which is higher than in 

2017. It is slightly below the Consortium performance but higher than the All Wales 

figure. 

 

GCSE Short Course in Religious Education 2018 outcomes 
 
NARRATIVE 
 

 In 2018 there was a slight increase in the number of students sitting the GCSE 

Religious Studies short course. In 2016 there had been a significant increase in entry 

where 358 students were entered but this figure fell in 2017.  Across Wales only 8307 

students were entered in comparison to 11,666 students in 2016. 

 The overall % of A* - G grades for Merthyr Tydfil in 2018 is 85%, a decrease on the 

previous two years. It is roughly on a par with the Consortium performance but lower 

than the all Wales figure. 

Page 18



 

9 
 

 The overall % of A* - C grades for Merthyr Tydfil in 2018 is 33.5.% which is on a par 

with the 2017 figure. The 2018 performance is comparable to the Consortium 

performance but below the All Wales figure. 

 The overall % of A*- A grades for Merthyr Tydfil in 2018 is 5.4 %. This is lower than 

the performances in 2017 and 2016. The 2018 performance is roughly on a par with 

the Consortium performance but lower than the All Wales figure. 

 

Key stage 3 data 
 
NARRATIVE 
 
Teacher assessment is not moderated externally. Teachers arrive at judgements for each 
pupil using assessment information gathered during the course of key stage 3. 
Exemplification material is made available to schools in order to moderate standards 
internally against the level description contained in the agreed syllabus.  
 

 At L5+the local authority is above the consortium but at both L6+ and at L7+ the 
local authority was below the consortium. 

 Boys underperform when compared to girls by approx. 13% at L6+. 

Members of Merthyr Tydfil SACRE also consider the levels awarded by teachers to pupils 
at the end of key stage 3. Comparisons are made with previous performance in religious 
education.  
 
School inspection reports 
 
SACRE, with the LA‟s agreement and co-operation, receives reports from professional 
officers on standards and provision and reviews summary reports of inspection findings 
and Estyn surveys.  During the academic year of 2018/9 SACRE members received 
details of school inspections undertaken and reported on between February 2018 and May 
2019.  
 
If there are any issues regarding religious education, such as the non-fulfilment of statutory 
requirements, the LA follows this up. There were five primary schools and one secondary 
school inspected during the above period. Comments were generally positive stating that 
curriculum and statutory requirements were met. There were no recommendations relating 
to religious education identified in the reports and therefore no follow up action was 
necessary. 
 
The following findings were reported: 
 
2 of the reports made explicit judgement on the quality of collective worship.  In addition, 
these good features were noted: 
 

 Schools provide valuable opportunities for all pupils to develop a greater 
understanding of tolerance and diversity. 

Page 19



 

10 
 

 Pupils who are involved in fundraising for several charitable causes, are helped to 
gain a good understanding of the needs of others in their community and the wider 
world. 

 Pupils have a raised awareness of other cultures. 

 Most pupils are considerate when listening to the views of others. 

 Nearly all pupils develop a good understanding of fairness, equality and tolerance. 
 
Areas for development noted were: 
 

 Pupils need to have more regular opportunities to make decisions and choices 
about what and how they learn.  

 Pupils need to be more challenged in their learning and thinking 
 
Methods of teaching, choice of teaching materials, teacher training 
 
Professional Development  
 
The local authority, via the Central South Consortium, offers CPD to schools. The local 
authority informed SACRE that with the current Welsh Assembly Government‟s emphasis 
on Literacy and Numeracy no subject specific training continues to not be on offer.  
 
Holocaust Memorial Day 2018 Resources 

All schools were informed of the 2019 Holocaust Memorial Day theme. 

Schools were informed by SACRE that further information about the theme and free 
educational Holocaust resources can be found on their website www.hmd.org.uk – these 
include lesson plans, film clips, case studies, collective worship/assembly material and 
worksheets suitable for primary to post 16 students.  
 
Guidance on the Withdrawal Clause 
 
SACRE distributed the WASACRE document Managing the Right to Withdrawal from 
Religious Education to all schools and SACRE  
  

Page 20

http://www.hmd.org.uk/


 

11 
 

SUMMARY OF ADVICE ON COLLECTIVE WORSHIP 
 
 
School inspection reports 
 
The local authority and its SACRE scrutinised relevant sections of Estyn school inspection 
reports for the period February 2018 to May 2019. If any issues emerge regarding 
collective worship, such as non fulfilment of statutory requirements, then the LA follows 
this up requesting their action plan.  
 
SACRE assumes that all schools inspected met statutory requirements in relation to 
collective worship as Estyn has not noted any instances of non-compliance and therefore 
no follow up action was necessary.  
 
Comments in relation to spiritual development are evident in all  inspection reports.  
 
Some positive comments include that daily assemblies reinforce the school‟s values very 
successfully and provide valuable opportunities for pupils to reflect on their learning and 
wellbeing. Thought provoking collective worship also supported pupils‟ spiritual 
development effectively, providing them with beneficial opportunities to reflect on their own 
beliefs and explore a wide range of moral issues. Pupils develop a good sense of 
tolerance and diversity. 
 
Applications for determinations 
 
No applications were received from schools for determinations to be made on the lifting of 
the requirements for collective worship to be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian 
character. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 21



 

12 
 

SUMMARY OF OTHER ISSUES 
 
WASACRE 
 
SACRE continues to support the work of the WASACRE and recognises the value of the 
body in promoting religious education and collective worship on a national basis. SACRE 
is represented on the WASACRE executive committee by the Chair of SACRE Ernie 
Galsworthy and their professional consultant Maggie Turford and receive regular feedback 
from them and other representatives who attend WASACRE meetings.  
 
WELSH GOVERNMENT NATIONAL CURRICULUM REVIEW  
 
SACRE has received termly updates, through feedback from the Consultant to SACRE, 
Maggie Turford, on the progress of the National Curriculum Review and its implications for 
RE in the curriculum. RE remains a statutory curriculum requirement from reception and 
will form part of the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience.  
 
REVISED CRITERIA FOR GCSE AND GCE SPECIFICATIONS 
 
SACRE have been updated about the progress being made with regards to the 
implementation of the new GCE and GCSE specifications and the work of Lead 
Practitioners, via updates from the Consultant. The consultant also provided SACRE with 
feedback on relevant WASACRE presentations.  
 
STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS FOR  RE  
 
In 2016-2017 the curriculum review had caused some confusion in schools regarding the 
status of agreed syllabuses. SACRE wrote to all schools reminding them that coverage of 
the programmes of study of the locally agreed syllabus remains a statutory requirement.  
 
ESTYN THEMATIC REVIEW AND UPDATES 
 
Estyn is in regular attendance in WASACRE meetings.   
 
SACRE received feedback on the Estyn Thematic Report in the Summer Term of 2018 
and the RE consultant made a presentation to SACRE on the Report in the Autumn 2018 
meeting. This will provide the opportunity for discussion and inform the SACRE 
Development Plan.  
 
TRAINING OF SACRE MEMBERS 
 
As part of it‟s training for members SACRE proposed the following: 
To keep members updated on developments in RE and collective worship through regular 
presentations to SACRE members. 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

13 
 

COMMISSION ON RELIGIOUS EDUCATION IN ENGLAND 
 
The Consultant asked SACRE members to note the final version of the WASACRE paper 
“The CoRE and its relevance to Wales:” and explained its purpose to Merthyr SACRE 
Members. It was highlighted that there were many issues that are relevant to Wales and 
the document should be noted. 
 
  

Page 23



 

14 
 

APPENDIX 1:     MEMBERSHIP OF SACRE 2018-2019 
 
 
Local Authority 
 
Councillor  Lee Davies Local Authority 
Councillor Ernie Galsworthy, Local Authority 
Councillor David Hughes Local Authority 
Councillor Ian Thomas Local Authority 
 
 
Teacher Associations 
 
Amanda Jones 

 
RE Teachers‟ Association  
Afon Taf High school 

Sian Bernard-Henderson/  
Leanne McCarthy 

National Union of Teachers 
Cyfartha High School 

Vacancy UCAC 
 

Vacancy Secondary Heads Association 
 

Helen Price/Justine Jones 
 

NAS/UWT 
Trelewis Primary 
Twynyrodyn Community School 

Katy Thomas Association of College Managers 
 

Mark Carrington,  
 

NAHT  
Twynyrodyn Community School   

Lucy Draper Association of Teachers and 
Lecturers 
Pen-y-Dre High School 

 
Religious Denominations 
  
Deacon David O‟Keefe Roman Catholic Church 
Andy Pitt Evangelical Church 
Ann Starr Presbyterian Church 
Father Mark Prevett Church in Wales 
Janine Brill  Salvation Army 
  
 
LA Officers 
 
Sarah Bowen    Inclusion Manager 
Karen Vokes     Clerk to SACRE 
Maggie Turford                           Independent RE Consultant 
 
 

Page 24



 

15 
 

APPENDIX 2:    RECORD OF MEETINGS AND MAIN AGENDA ITEMS 
  
 
 
 October 23rd 2018 at Civic Centre Merthyr 
 
1. Welcome and Apologies 

 
2. Minutes of the last meeting 
 
3. SACRE Annual Report 2017- 2018 
 
4. Inspection report synopsis Autumn 2017- June 2018 
 
5. Estyn Thematic Review of RE at KS2 and 3 

 
6. RE and the National Curriculum Update: 28 September workshop feedback  

 
7. WASACRE –summary of meeting July N Wales 
    
8. Future meetings and possible agenda items, including new curriculum, development 

plan and teacher inputs 
   
 
March 19th 2019 at Civic Centre, Merthyr 
 
1 Welcome and Apologies 
 
2 Minutes of the last meeting and matters arising 
 
3 Monitoring standards 2018 KS3 and GCSE, with contributions from Heads of RE 

departments. 
 
4 Commission on RE- CoRE final report 
 
5 RE and the National Curriculum Update-consultation paper  
 
6 Response to Estyn thematic review-for information 
 
7 WASACRE –summary of meeting November Llantwit Major 
 
8 Development Plan 2018-2021 
 
9 Future meetings and possible agenda items 

 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

16 
 

 
 

June 4, 2019 3.45 at Civic Centre Merthyr 
 

1. Apologies for absence 
 

2. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 MARCH 2019 
 
3. Matters arising  
 
4. Constitution /membership update-if relevant 
 
5. Self-evaluation and Development planning-MIT plus template plan 
 
6. RE in the Curriculum-Update and explanatory notes-notes from MIT 

 
7. Pioneer school input-R Moore, Bishop Hedley RC Secondary School 

 
8. Inspection synopsis till second half summer term 2019 
 
9  WASACRE issues: 

 Minutes of Spring meeting at Cardiff  March 26th  2019 –synopsis and full 
minutes 

 

 Representation at the summer WASACRE meeting at Conwy 2019 
 

10 Annual report process. 
 
 

Page 26



 

17 
 

 

APPENDIX 3:    OUTCOME DATA 

 
EXAMINATION RESULTS ANALYSIS 2018  
 

 GCSE Religious Studies Full Course 
  

Merthyr 2016 
 

Merthyr 2017 
 

Merthyr 2018 

 

Consortium 
2018 

 

All Wales 2018 

A*- A 33.3% 21.6% 27.7% 28.8% 26.1% 

A* - C 69.9% 65.4% 74.2% 70.0% 68.0% 

A* - G 98.1% 98.8% 100.0% 98.1% 97.4% 

Entry 156 
(25.4% of cohort) 

4 schools 
& EOTAS 

162 students 
(28.8% of cohort) 

4 schools 

159 students 
(27.8% of 

cohort) 
3 schools 

4747students 
(52.0% of cohort) 

11870 students 
(39.0 % of cohort) 

*EOTAS – Education Other than at School 

 

 
 GCSE Religious Studies Short Course 

 

  
Merthyr 2016 

 
Merthyr 2017 

 
Merthyr 2018 

 

Consortium 2018 
 

All Wales 2018 

A*- A 18.7% 7.2% 5.4% 4.8% 8.1 % 

A* - C 52.0% 33.7% 33.5% 34.6% 39.2 % 
A* - G 94.1% 90.2% 85% 

 
84.5% 87.8 % 

Entry 358 students 306 students 313 students 2108 students 8307 students 
 (58.3% of cohort) (53.6% of (54.8% of cohort) (23.1 of cohort%) (27.3 %) 
 4 schools cohort) 4 schools and 

EOTAS 

  

 & EOTAS 4 schools    

  & EOTAS    

*EOTAS – Education Other than at School 

P
age 27



 

18 
 

 
 Key Stage 3 outcomes 2018 
 
 

 

        

A
ll

 P
u

p
il

s
 

 

N
O

R
 

%
 N

o
t 

a
w

a
rd

e
d

 

le
v
e

l 

%
 D

is
a
p

p
li

e
d

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

1
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

2
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

3
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

4
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

5
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

6
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

7
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

8
 

%
 E

x
c
e

p
ti

o
n

a
l 

 

%
 T

o
ta

l 
P

u
p

il
s
 

 

%
 L

 5
+

 

 
%

 L
 6

+
 

 
%

 L
 7

+
 

Merthyr Tydfil 46
9 

1.5 0.
0 

0.0 0.0 0.6 9.8 51.2 32 4.9 0.0 0.0 100.
0 

88.1 36.9 4.9 

Central South 
Consortium 

666
8 

0.8 0.
0 

0.0 0.2 1.3 8.6 36.6 34.6 16.3 1.6 0.1 100.
0 

89.1 52.5 17.9 

 

 

 

        

B
o

y
s
 

 

N
O

R
 

%
 N

o
t 

a
w

a
rd

e
d

 

le
v
e

l 

%
 D

is
a
p

p
li

e
d

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

1
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

2
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

3
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

4
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

5
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

6
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

7
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

8
 

%
 E

x
c
e

p
ti

o
n

a
l 

 

%
 T

o
ta

l 
P

u
p

il
s
 

 

%
 L

 5
+

 

 
%

 L
 6

+
 

 
%

 L
 7

+
 

Merthyr Tydfil 24
8 

2.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 14.1 51.6 25.8 4.4 0.0 0.0 100.0 81.9 30.2 4.4 

Central South 
Consortium 

333
8 

0.9 0.0 0.1 0.3 2.0 12 42.4 31.2 10.6 0.4 0.1 100.0 84.8 42.3 11.1 

 

P
age 28



 

19 
 

        

G
ir

ls
 

 

N
O

R
 

%
 N

o
t 

a
w

a
rd

e
d

 

le
v
e

l 

%
 D

is
a
p

p
li

e
d

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

1
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

2
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

3
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

4
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

5
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

6
 

 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

7
 

%
 L

e
v

e
l 

8
 

%
 E

x
c
e

p
ti

o
n

a
l 

 

%
 T

o
ta

l 
P

u
p

il
s
 

 
%

 L
 5

+
 

 
%

 L
 6

+
 

 
%

 L
 7

+
 

Merthyr Tydfil 221 0.0 0
.
0 

0.0 0.0 0.0 5 50.7 38.9 5.4 0.0 0.0 100.
0 

95.0 44.3 5.4 

Central South 
Consortium 

332
7 

0.6 0
.
0 

0.0 0.1 0.6 5.1 30.7 38.1 21.9 2.8 0.1 100.
0 

93.6 62.8 24.8 

 
 P

age 29



 

 

APPENDIX 4:   CIRCULATION OF THE ANNUAL REPORT 
 
 
Copies will be sent electronically to the relevant bodies. This report will be available on the 
local authority and WASACRE websites for interested parties to download.  
 
 

 Members of Merthyr Tydfil SACRE 
 

 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Democratic Services 
 

 All Merthyr Tydfil County Borough schools 
 

 Central South Consortium 
 

 Wales Association of SACREs (WASACRE) 
 

 National Library, Aberystwyth 
 

 Welsh Government 
 

 Estyn 
 

 Cytun 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20  

Page 30



 

21 
 

APPENDIX 5: 
 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
 

Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education 
 

Constitution 
Terms of reference 
 
1. To advise the LA on matters connected with collective worship in county schools. 
 
2. To advise the LA on matters connected with religious education which is given in 

accordance with the agreed syllabus. 
 
3. To decide when, within the five year statutory time scale, the LA should review its 

agreed syllabus. 
 
4. To consider with the LA and the Agreed Syllabus Conference any changes required 

to the agreed syllabus. 
 
5. To consider with the LA the support offered to religious education in its schools, with 

particular regard to methods of teaching, the choice of teaching materials and the 
provision of training for teachers. 

 
6. To offer advice on any other matters related to its function as it sees fit. 
 
7. To publish an annual report on its work, which should: 
 

a.  specify any matters on which it has advised the LA; 
b.  broadly describe the nature of the advice; 
c.  set out its reasons for offering advice on any matters which were not referred to it 

in the first place by the LA; and 
d.  record the membership of SACRE and the dates of meetings held. 

 
8. To participate in the LA‟s statutory complaints procedures in those instances where 

the complaints relate to religious education and/or collective worship. 
 
9. To receive and make determinations in respect of applications from headteachers of 

county schools for the lifting or modifying of the requirements that collective worship 
in such schools must be wholly or mainly of a broadly Christian character. 
 

Composition 
 
10. The council shall comprise three groups representing: 
 

a.  Such Christian and other religious denominations as, in the opinion of the LA will 
appropriately reflect the religious traditions in the area.  
 

Page 31



 

22 
 

b.  Such associations representing teachers as, in the opinion of the LA, ought to be 
represented having regard to the circumstances of the area. 

 
c.  The LA. 

 
11. The Council may also co-opt members. 
 
12. Membership of the Council shall be for a period of four years. Any outgoing members 

may be re-appointed. 
 
13. Membership of the Council is subject to the condition that the LA has taken all 

reasonable steps to assure itself that the persons appointed are representative, as 
the case may be, of the denominations or associations in question. 

 
14. Members representing associations of teachers must include teachers of religious 

education. 
 
15. Individuals may be removed from the Council if they cease to be representative of 

the denomination, association or of the Authority they were appointed to represent. 
 
16. Any member of the Council may at any time resign his or her office. 
 
Proceedings 
 
17. The Council shall meet not less than once in each school term. 
 
18. The Council shall elect from its membership a chairperson and vice chairperson at 

the first meeting in each academic year. The chairperson and vice chairperson in any 
one year shall not be drawn from the same representative group. An outgoing 
chairperson may be re-appointed. 

 
19. On any question to be decided by the Council only the representative groups on the 

Council shall be entitled to vote, and each group shall have a single vote. Before a 
formal vote is taken opportunity shall be given to each representative group to 
determine how its vote is to be cast.  

 
20. Co-opted members are not entitled to vote. 

 
21. The agenda for each meeting shall be determined by the chairperson and vice 

chairperson in consultation with the clerk to SACRE, Director of Education and 
Professional Officer. Any voting member of SACRE shall be entitled to propose items 
for an agenda. 

 
22. In the case of any member not being able to attend a Council meeting, a substitute 

may be nominated by the body which that person represents, provided that the 
substitute meets the eligibility criteria and the Education Directorate of the LA is 
notified in advance of the meeting. 

 

Page 32



 

23 
 

23. A meeting of the Council will be deemed to be quorate if at least one member of each 
of the three representative groups is present. 

 
24. The validity of proceedings of the Council shall not be affected: 
 

a.  by a vacancy in the office of any member of the Council or 
 
b. on the grounds that a member of the Council appointed to represent any 

denomination or association does not, at the time of the proceedings, represent 
the denomination or association in question. 

 
25. The representative groups on the Council, other than that representing the Authority, 

may call, at any time, for a review of the agreed syllabus current in the Authority. At 
such time an Agreed Syllabus Conference shall be constituted and convened. 

 
26. The Council shall consider its annual report at the first meeting to be held in each 

academic year. Upon the Council‟s ratification of the report it shall proceed to 
publication. 

 
27. The clerk to the SACRE shall arrange for copies of the annual report to be sent to all 

county schools within the Authority, to DfES, the National Library and to such other 
individuals and institutions as the LA sees fit. 

Page 33



 

 

24 

Appendix 6:   Development Plan 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019– 2022 (ACADEMIC YEAR)  

 
Aim 1: To monitor standards in Religious Education and Religious Studies.  
            Work with school staff to support the above and to add value to work of the SACRE 
Questions to consider 
 

 How well do we know how our schools and the SACRE is doing? 

 Do we have enough information to make judgements? 

 What else could we do? 

 Is there any way we can support teachers’ professional development –CPD? 

 What do we need to do to help schools understand the role of SACRE? 
 

Areas of development  Schedule 
Actions to 
consider 

People 
involved 

Time and 
costs 

Outcomes Progress at June 
2019 

1.1  Monitor standards through regular 

 Review of inspection reports/ Estyn 
thematic reviews/ school self 
evaluation reports and recommend, 
where necessary, action by Local 
Authority. 

Annual 
agenda item 
Autumn 
Term  
 

Full SACRE 
Adviser 

Agenda time 
Adviser time 
for analysis 

Advice to LA on trends across 
the county borough; advice, 
where appropriate, on 
particular schools; follow up 
through school visits and 
review of action plan where 
necessary. 

Inspection analyses 
carried out on regular 
basis. The majority 
have judgements on 
RE Collective 
worship and spiritual 
development 

1.2 Receive information on results of: 
      Teacher Assessment at end of  
      Key Stage 3; GCSE Religious  
      Studies Full and Short Course;     
      A/AS level Religious Studies. 
 

Spring Term  
 

Full SACRE 
 Adviser 

Agenda time 
Adviser time 
for analysis 

Advice to LA on trends; 
advice, where appropriate, on 
particular schools. 
 

SACRE members 
given 2018 outcome 
data for KS3 and 4 at 
Spring term meeting 
2019. 
Teacher input at 
Spring meeting 
stressed the difficulty 

P
age 34



 

25 
 

of new GCSE course 
in terms of vast 
amount of content 

1.3 Identify CPD needs, monitor and  
      offer advice on training. 
 

Autumn 
Term  
 
 

Full SACRE Agenda time Training programme received 
along with figures on uptake; 
advice to LA. 
  

There remains a 
shortage of specialist 
RE CPD and the new 
curriculum will 
continue to make 
demands for this. 

1.4 Involve staff in schools more closely   
with work of the SACRE 

 

ongoing 
 

Full SACRE 
teachers 

Agenda time Improved understanding of all 
SACRE members of work in 
schools and better 
understanding of the work of 
the SACRE  
  

School staff 
contributed to 
discussions on data 
and GCSE-see above 

P
age 35



 

26 
 

 SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019 – 2022 (ACADEMIC YEAR)  

 
Aim 2: To review the agreed syllabus (as appropriate) and support its implementation, taking into consideration the new 

curriculum arrangements for RE as they are implemented 
  

Questions to consider 
 

 How will new curriculum arrangements impact actions? 

 What support will schools need? 

 How can SACRE members be best updated on new curriculum? 

 How are SACRE and Agreed Syllabus likely to change? 

 
Areas of development Schedule People involved Time and costs Outcomes Progress 

2.1 To review the agreed syllabus 
for Religious Education 

 
 

Summer 2019 
onwards (or as 
appropriate) 
 

Full SACRE 
Adviser 
Working group 
NAPfRE 

Advisory time to review 
the agreed syllabus. 
Establish a working 
group (if applicable). 
Convene a Standing 
Conference to  adopt 
the syllabus 
Publication/ translation  
costs (as appropriate) 

Agreed syllabus 
reviewed and 
adopted by Standing 
Conference. 
Agreed Syllabus 
training programme 
for schools  (if 
required) 
Agreed syllabus to be 
implemented the 
Autumn term after 
adoption. 

To be discussed at 
termly SACRE 
meetings. As 
SACRE still unclear 
about potential 
changes with new 
curriculum 
arrangements this 
will need to be 
agendad at each 
meeting. 

2.2 Materials to support 
implementation of the agreed 
syllabus for RE 

 

Ongoing  
 

Full SACRE 
Consultant 
 

 Advisory time 
 
 

Support materials 
available to schools 
and accessed 
through Consortium 
website. 

Working group on 
new curriculum can 
be contacted to 
advise-
Autumn/2019 and 
Spring term 2020 

P
age 36



 

27 
 

 
 

2.3 To keep updated on progress 
in terms of implementation of 
RE in new curriculum 

 

In line with WG 
implementation 
process 
 

Full SACRE 
Consultant 
 

 Advisory time 
 
 

Schools well 
informed and 
prepared to introduce 
new arrangements 

New curriculum to 
be on each agenda. 
Members have 
discussed on 2 
occasions and have 
contributed to WG 
consultation on 
new curriculum 

 
 
 
 
  P

age 37



 

28 
 

 

 SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019– 2022 (ACADEMIC YEAR)  

 
Aim 3: To monitor provision and provide support for collective worship. 
 
Questions to consider 
 

 Are there other ways SACRE members can monitor the above? 

 Links with Estyn? 
 

Areas of development Schedule People 
involved 

Time and 
costs 

Outcomes Progress 

3.1 Monitor provision for collective 
worship through regular review of 
inspection reports/ school self 
evaluation reports; recommend, 
where necessary, action by LA. 

Annual 
agenda item 
Autumn 
term 
 
 

Full 
SACRE 
and 
Adviser  

Agenda time 
Adviser time for 
analysis 
 

Advice to LA on trends 
across the county borough; 
advice, where appropriate, 
on particular schools; follow 
up through school visits and 
review of action plan where 
necessary.  

See no 1-each 
inspection report and 
Estyn review –e.g. 
KS2 and 3 have been 
analysed at SACRE 
meetings-Autumn 
2018 and Spring 2019 

3.2 To support the implementation of 
statutory collective worship 

Ongoing 
 
 

Advisory 
service  
 

Advisory time   
 

Provision of INSET (if 
applicable) 
Schools informed of 
resources and websites for 
collective worship. 
Schools informed of 
guidance materials available 
for collective worship  
 
 

To be addressed 

 
 

P
age 38



 

29 
 

 

 SACRE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2019– 2022 (ACADEMIC YEAR) 

 
Aim 4: To ensure a more informed SACRE through providing regular updates on local and national issues related to RE and 
collective worship in schools. In this to enable SACRE members to evaluate their own development and progress as a committee 
 
Questions to consider 

 How can SACRE member’s best develop their role as a Council? 

 In what other ways can we ensure that schools and local community understand the role and wok of SACRE? 

 What do we need to do to improve as a SACRE? 
 

Areas of development Schedule People 
involved 

Time and 
costs 

Outcomes Progress 

4.1 To update members on the role of 
SACRE and its implications; recent 
developments in RE and collective 
worship; guidance materials from 
relevant bodies; input from practising 
teachers and outside providers 

Termly/ 
Annually as 
required 

SACRE 
members , 
Adviser, 
practising 
teachers,  
outside 
providers  

Member time; 
Adviser / Officer 
time  

SACRE members fully aware 
of their responsibilities.  
SACRE and schools updated 
and informed of recent 
developments and initiatives, 
both local and national. 
 

External input-e.g. 
Summer 2019 and 
input form teacher 
representatives at 
SACRE meetings 
have helped to 
progress this 

4.2 Programme of school visits. Termly/Ann
ually as 
required 
 

 SACRE 
members, 
Adviser/ 
Officers 

Member time; 
Officer time to 
arrange visits 

More informed SACRE on 
provision and practice 
regarding RE and collective 
worship in schools.  

To be addressed 

4.3 To ensure that members are 
aware of strengths and areas for 
development of the SACRE 

 

Termly/Ann
ually as 
required 
 

SACRE 
members, 
Adviser/ 
Officers 

Member time; 
Officer time to 
arrange visits 

see 4.1 Member time; Officer 
time to arrange visits 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Welsh Government Consultation on proposals to ensure access to the full 

curriculum for all learners 

To all SACRE members: 

On 3rd October 2019, Welsh Government opened a consultation on proposals to ensure access to the full curriculum 

in Wales. The proposals apply to children in all maintained schools in Wales. SACRE members are strongly advised to 

respond to the consultation, as the proposals, should they come into effect will have a direct and significant impact 

on RE in schools in Wales.  

Responses to the consultation are required by 28th November 2019. The consultation will, therefore, be closed prior 

to the Autumn SACRE meetings, but should you wish to discuss the proposals, please feel free to contact Angela Hill 

who has taken up the post of RE Consultant to the five SACREs of Central South Consortium. You may email her at 

angela@retoday.org.uk or telephone her on 07889530743. 

 

Summary of Proposals 

The proposals set out in this consultation are as follows: 

 To remove the parental right to withdraw their children from all or part of Relationships and Sex Education 

(RSE) 

 To remove the right of parents to withdraw their children from all or part of Religious Education (RE)  

 A change of name for RE to ‘Religions and Worldviews’ 

The full consultation can be found here: https://gov.wales/ensuring-access-full-curriculum  

 

Context of proposals: Religious Education 

The proposed changes will align with the New Curriculum for Wales in which Religious Education is set to become 

part of the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, alongside History, Geography, Business Studies and Social 

Studies. These changes are scheduled to become effective in 2022.  

 

SACREs’ remit in relation to proposed changes 

As SACREs advise on Religious Education and collective worship in schools, issues relating exclusively to Sex and 

Relationships Education are outside SACRE’s scope for consideration.  

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10

mailto:angela@retoday.org.uk
https://gov.wales/ensuring-access-full-curriculum


This page is intentionally left blank



Number: WG39139 

 

 

 

 
Welsh Government  

Consultation Document 
 

 

 
 

Consultation on proposals to ensure access to the 
full curriculum for all learners  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date of issue: 3 October 2019 

Action required: Responses by 28 November 2019 

 

 

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.  

This document is also available in Welsh. 

  © Crown copyright 

Page 43



Overview 
 

 

We want your views on the impact of proposals that the new curriculum for 
Wales which will be introduced in 2022 should not include a right to 
withdraw from Religious Education (RE) and Relationships and Sexuality 
Education (RSE) and a change of name for RE. 
 

How to 
respond 

This is a written, electronic consultation. Questions can be found at the end 
of this consultation document and you can complete the online form, 
download the form and complete manually and post to us at the address 
provided or send via email. 

Further 
information 
and related 
documents 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact 
details 

Our National Mission: A Transformational Curriculum  
https://gov.wales/our-national-mission-transformational-curriculum 
 
 
This consultation document can be accessed from the Welsh Government’s 
website at gov.wales/consultations.  Large print, Braille and alternative 
language versions of this document are available on request. 
 
 
 
 
For further information, please contact: 
 
Arts, Humanities and Well-being Branch 
Curriculum and Assessment Division 
The Education Directorate 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
Cardiff 
CF10 3QD 
 
e-mail: AHWB@gov.wales 
 
 

  

Page 44

https://gov.wales/our-national-mission-transformational-curriculum
https://beta.gov.wales/consultations
mailto:AHWB@gov.wales


General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide as part 
of your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory powers they will rely 
on to process this personal data which will enable them to make informed decisions 
about how they exercise their public functions. Any response you send us will be seen in 
full by Welsh Government staff dealing with the issues which this consultation is about or 
planning future consultations. Where the Welsh Government undertakes further analysis 
of consultation responses then this work may be commissioned to be carried out by an 
accredited third party (e.g. a research organisation or a consultancy company). Any such 
work will only be undertaken under contract. Welsh Government’s standard terms and 
conditions for such contracts set out strict requirements for the processing and 
safekeeping of personal data. 

In order to show that the consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh Government 
intends to publish a summary of the responses to this document. We may also publish 
responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or part of the address) of the person 
or organisation who sent the response are published with the response. If you do not 
want your name or address published, please tell us this in writing when you send your 
response. We will then redact them before publishing. 

You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information 
legislation. 

If your details are published as part of the consultation response then these published 
reports will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held otherwise by Welsh 
Government will be kept for no more than three years. 

 

Your rights 

Under the data protection legislation, you have the right: 

 to be informed of the personal data holds about you and to access it 

 to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data 

 to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing 

 for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’ 

 to (in certain circumstances) data portability 

 to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who is our 
independent regulator for data protection. 

 
For further details about the information 
the Welsh Government holds and its 
use, or if you want to exercise your 
rights under the GDPR, please see 
contact details below: 
 
Data Protection Officer: 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
CARDIFF 
CF10 3NQ 
 
e-mail: 
Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales 

The contact details for the Information 
Commissioner’s Office are:  
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF 
 
Tel: 01625 545 745 or  
0303 123 1113 
 
Website: https://ico.org.uk/ 

Page 45

mailto:Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales
https://ico.org.uk/


 

Contents 

             

 

Ministerial Foreword     
 
 

What are the main issues?       
  
 Current Curriculum 
  RE 
  Sex Education  
 

New Curriculum 
  RE in the new curriculum 
  RSE in the new curriculum 
      

What are we proposing? 
 
 Right to withdraw from RE and RSE 
 Change of name from RE to Religions and Worldviews 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 46



Ministerial foreword 
 
Our vision for Wales is for a fully inclusive education system where all learners have 
the equity of access to education that meets their needs and enables them to 
participate in, benefit from and enjoy learning. 

To help deliver this, we are in the midst of a transformative reform agenda, including 
the development of the Curriculum for Wales, based on learners making progress 
towards four purposes and, as part of this, providing the knowledge, skills and 
experiences to enable learners become healthy, ethical and informed citizens. 

We are proposing that every child in a maintained school in Wales must have the 
right to access a broad and balanced curriculum; this includes access to Religious 
Education (RE) and Relationships and Sexuality Education (RSE). 

RE and sex education are statutory requirements within the current curriculum. We 
propose that RE and RSE will be statutory within the new curriculum when it is 
introduced from 2022. 

Through RE, learners explore the range of spiritual, philosophical, moral, social and 
cultural beliefs within their community, across Wales, and throughout the world. I am 
proposing to change the name of Religious Education to “Religions and Worldviews”, 
which appropriately reflects teaching practice within the new curriculum, and allows 
for the exploration of a range of religious and philosophical beliefs, as well as other 
beliefs and world-views, including non-religious world views. 

Our responsibility as a government is to ensure that, through state education, all 
children and young people have access to learning that supports them to develop 
tolerance, empathy and understanding of different people, cultures and communities 
– and in understanding their rights and the rights of others.  Children should be 
provided with access to information that keeps them safe from harm and allows them 
to navigate the world we live in, one which is very different to the world we or their 
parents grew up in. 

All teaching and learning must be developmentally appropriate.  It must be clear to 
parents what their children will learn about and to be able to engage in dialogue with 
schools about this part of the curriculum.   

The teaching and learning in each school will be able to draw on a framework we will 
provide in guidance and should reflect the community the school serves. 

I am minded to ensure all children and young people in maintained schools are 
required to study RE and RSE in the new curriculum, rather than continue the 
anomaly that parents can take the decision to prevent children from attending these 
specific and core lessons.   

This consultation seeks views on the practical implications of such a change. 

It provides an opportunity for parents, teachers, young people and stakeholders to 
help shape this important area.   

I am very clear that we need to work with parents and carers, take account of their 
views and look at how we can balance the rights of parents to develop, care and 

Page 47



guide their children into adulthood and provide a broad and balanced education that 
serves the public good. 

 
 

  

Page 48



What are the main issues? 
 
1. This consultation asks for views on the practical implications on the proposal to 

ensure access to the new curriculum by not including the parental right to 
withdraw from RE and RSE1. 

 

Current curriculum 
 
RE 
 

2. At present, RE is part of the basic curriculum and schools have a statutory duty to 
teach RE to all learners in maintained schools, including those in the sixth form 
and Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) (covering ages 11 to 18), with an exemption for 
children in nursery classes.   

 
3. The nature of the RE will vary according to whether the school is a faith or non-

faith based school. The courts have established that RE must be taught in an 
objective, critical and pluralistic manner; in particular, the state is not permitted to 
pursue an aim of indoctrination (“the Pluralistic Requirement”).  Nonetheless faith 
schools can teach RE in a way that accords with its faith basis but they must also 
provide neutral information on other religions and non-religious views as well. 

 
4. In summary, the effect of the current legislation governing RE in schools is as 

follows: 
 

 the curriculum generally must be balanced and broadly-based and it must 
(a) promote the spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development 
of pupils at the school and of society, and (b) prepare pupils for the 
opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life; 
 

 that the curriculum must include provision for RE for all pupils at the 
school; 

 

 Community schools, foundation schools and voluntary schools without a 
religious character follow the Agreed Syllabus2; 

 

 Foundation and voluntary controlled schools with a religious character 
must provide RE in accordance with the Agreed Syllabus unless a parent 
requests that their child be provided with RE in accordance with the trust 
deed for the school or, if there is no trust deed, in accordance with the 
tenets of the religion; 

                                                             
1 See section 71(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 for the parental right to withdraw from 

RE & section 405 of the Education Act 1996 for sex education  

 
2
 See paragraph 2 of Schedule 19 to the School Standards and Framework Act 1998.  The Agreed Syllabus is the 

syllabus for religious education adopted by the local authority on advice of its Agreed Syllabus Conference.  It 
sets out the content of religious education for those schools without a faith basis and for those with a faith 
basis but which do not follow a separate denominational education (voluntary controlled schools). 

Page 49



 

 Voluntary aided schools with a religious character must provide RE in 
accordance with the trust deed for the school, or if there is no trust deed, 
in accordance with the tenets of the religion. However, if the parents so 
request, this must be provided in accordance with the Agreed Syllabus 
(paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule 19 to the 1998 Act);  
 

 that RE in non-faith-based schools must comply with the Christian 
tradition3 requirement; 
 

 RE in non-faith schools may not be given by means of any catechism or 
formulary which is distinctive of a particular religious denomination 
(although the study of such catechisms or formularies is permissible); 
 

 the parent of a pupil has an absolute right to have the pupil excused from 
receiving RE, and no reason for the exercise of that right need be given; 

 

 where a pupil has been so excused, he or she may (subject to certain 
conditions being met) be withdrawn from school to receive RE of a kind 
that his or her parent wishes him or her to receive; and 

 

 if the school is a secondary school and pupils cannot be conveniently 
withdrawn from it, then (subject to certain conditions being met) facilities 
must be made available for the pupils to receive RE of a kind that their 
parents wish them to receive. 

 
What is a faith school? 
 
5. The schools that may have a faith basis are as follows: 
 

a) voluntary controlled schools: these may or may not have a religious 
character; 

 
b) voluntary aided schools: these may or may not have a religious 

character; and 
 

c) foundation and foundation special schools: foundation schools may 
have a religious character also. 

 
6. In practice almost all faith schools in Wales will be voluntary aided (category (b) 

above).  
 

7. As noted above, in non-faith schools there is provision in the School Standards 
and Framework Act 1998 which states that no Agreed Syllabus may be distinctive 
of a particular religious denomination (“Catechism Provision”). This provision 
does not apply to faith-based schools.  Whilst such schools must comply with the 

                                                             
3 Section 375(3) of the Education Act 1996 provides that every agreed syllabus shall reflect the fact that the 
religious traditions in Great Britain are in the main Christian whilst taking account of the teaching and practices 
of the other principal religious traditions represented in Great Britain. 

Page 50



Pluralistic Requirement (see paragraph 3), subject to that they may still teach 
according to their own catechism.  

 
 

Parents’ ability to prevent a child receiving RE 
 
8. Parents have been able to prevent a child from receiving RE since the Education 

Act 1944.  Parents are not required to provide a reason for doing so and the right 
remains with the parent throughout schooling (including the sixth form).  

 
9. This consultation proposes there will be no parental right to withdraw from RE 

(and RSE).  
 

Sex education  
 
10. The current legislation requires that all secondary school age pupils attending 

maintained settings must receive sex education (set out in Section 101(c) and (d) 
of the Education Act 2002). Primary schools are able to deliver sex education but 
this is at the discretion of their governing bodies.   
 

11. There is not a full definition of what sex education encompasses in the current 
curriculum but section 579(1) of the Education Act 1996 states that it does 
include information on sexually transmitted diseases.  This is supplemented by 
statutory guidance. It has generally been interpreted more broadly to encompass 
aspects of relationships. 
 

12. Both faith and non-faith based schools must teach sex education in a way that 
satisfies the Pluralistic Requirement and does not seek to indoctrinate in any 
particular religious view on issues relating to sex education. However, faith 
schools can teach it in a way that accords with its faith basis but must provide 
neutral information about other perspectives on the same issues. 

 
13. Schools also have a statutory requirement to provide Personal and Social 

Education (PSE) for all compulsory school age pupils (generally ages 5-16). They 
are supported in planning their PSE provision by the non-statutory framework for 
PSE document, which contains a health and emotional well-being theme. 
However, as the PSE Framework is non-statutory, schools are free to decide on 
the content and approach for delivery as long as the subject is taught in a neutral 
way.  

 
14. Relationships education is already present in the Foundation Phase, which 

covers 3-7 years old. The Foundation Phase contains a Personal and Social 
Development, Well-being and Cultural Diversity area of learning. Within this, 
children learn about themselves, their relationships with other children and adults 
both within and beyond the family.  

 
Parents’ ability to prevent a child receiving sex education 
 
15. Parents are currently able to prevent their children from receiving aspects of sex 

education in school (i.e. aspects not contained in the national curriculum).  As 

Page 51



with RE, parents are not required to give a reason for withdrawal and this 
remains with the parent throughout schooling (including the sixth form). This 
consultation proposes there will be no parental right to withdraw from RSE (and 
RE).  

 

New Curriculum   

  
16. We are developing a transformational curriculum and schools will be responsible 

for ensuring all their learners receive a broad and balanced curriculum, which is 
designed to meet the four purposes – that children and young people develop as: 

 
• ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives; 
• enterprising, creative contributors, ready to play a full part in life and 

work  
• ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world; 
• healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued 

members of society. 
 
17. To ensure the curriculum enables learners to progress in relation to achieving the 

four purposes, the new curriculum will include (amongst other things): 
 

• A requirement for RE for pupils 3 to 16 years of age; 
• A requirement for RSE for pupils aged 3 to 16 years of age. 

 
18. Further details of the proposals are contained in the White Paper.  While there 

will be requirements and guidance to support schools in developing and 
implementing the new curriculum, a purpose-led curriculum will offer considerably 
more freedom and agency to practitioners to offer learning which equips learners 
for the challenges and opportunities they face growing up and then living and 
working in the 21st century. 

 
19. Within this purpose-led approach, both RE and RSE have a central role to play in 

realising the four purposes to the extent that we have proposed they must be 
separate statutory requirements.   

 
 
RE in the new curriculum  
 
20. In proposals for the new Curriculum, RE4 will continue to be compulsory, forming 

a statutory part of the Humanities Area of Learning and Experience, whilst 
recognising the local responsibility of the Agreed Syllabus Conferences and local 
authorities and the place of the denominational syllabus in faith based schools 
(e.g. Voluntary Aided schools with a religious character). 

 
21. A new supporting framework is being developed to provide further detail about 

the relationship between RE, the Agreed Syllabus, and the areas of learning and 
experience. This is being taken forward by a group of RE practitioners, teachers 
drawn from our Quality Improvement practitioners, academics, and 

                                                             
4 Please see paragraphs 45 – 47 below for our proposal to change the name of this subject area 

Page 52

https://gov.wales/our-national-mission-transformational-curriculum


representatives from Standing Advisory Councils on Religious Education 
(SACREs) and the National Advisory Panel for Religious Education (NAPFRE). 

 
22. It is our intention also that RE reflects our historical and contemporary 

relationship in Wales to philosophy and religious views, including non-religious 
beliefs. Therefore we propose the current legislation will be amended to ensure 
the agreed syllabus for RE takes account of non-religious world views which are 
analogous to religions (for example, humanism). 

 
23. In developing respect and understanding of different forms of religion and world 

view over time and in different societies, RE provides valuable experiences for 
children and young people that make a positive contribution to each of the four 
purposes. 

 
RSE in the new curriculum  
 
24. Relationships and Sexuality Education (RSE) explores the interconnected ways 

in which a wide and diverse range of social, cultural, technological and biological 
influences affect the ability to form and maintain positive relationships.  It 
supports young people to develop the knowledge and skills needed to effectively 
navigate these rapidly changing influences and establish respectful, fulfilling 
relationships throughout their lives. These may include family relationships, 
friendships, professional relationships and sexual relationships. Moving from sex 
education in the current legislation to RSE in future reflects the internationally 
recognised World Health Organisation (WHO) standards for sexuality education. 
This definition seeks to encourage schools to take a joined up approach to 
education around relationships and the broader range of topics included under 
sexuality. 
 

25. RSE within the new curriculum will be mandatory in all funded non-maintained 
settings and maintained schools (and PRUs) for learners aged 3 to 16. The four 
purposes of the curriculum support learners to grow as healthy, confident 
individuals who are able to build relationships based on mutual trust and respect, 
and develop their mental and emotional well-being by developing their resilience 
and empathy. RSE is essential to supporting this and should provide learners 
with the experiences, knowledge and skills to form and maintain a range of 
positive relationships.  To properly reflect the breadth of what will be covered, it 
will be formally renamed in line with the recommendation of the Sex and 
Relationships Education Expert Panel5. 
 

26. RSE will allow  learners to explore how their experiences, decisions, social and 
cultural interactions, and relationships, drawn from the interpersonal level, 
through local, national, United Kingdom and global contexts, can help them grow 
in empathy and recognise the dignity and respect due to others, and to the living 
world around them. It is about nurturing and developing learners’ understanding 
of the influences that can affect them, both positively and negatively, as they 

                                                             
5
 https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/180104-future-of-the-sex-and-relationships-education-

curriculum-in-wales-en.pdf  

Page 53

https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/180104-future-of-the-sex-and-relationships-education-curriculum-in-wales-en.pdf
https://gweddill.gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/180104-future-of-the-sex-and-relationships-education-curriculum-in-wales-en.pdf


seek to develop and establish a range of respectful, healthy relationships. This 
includes learning at age appropriate stages about: 

 relationships / friendship 
 respecting values, rights, culture and sexuality 
 understanding gender 
 violence and staying safe 
 relationships and sexuality, and health and well-being 
 the human body and development 
 sexuality and sexual behaviour 

27. Developing RSE through different areas of learning and experience6 within the 
new curriculum gives learners a rich and wide-ranging view of human 
relationships and sexuality from a variety of disciplines.   
 

28. We propose that there will be a duty on the Welsh Ministers to issue statutory 
guidance on RSE in a way that is age-appropriate and developmentally 
appropriate for learners. 

Role of RE and RSE in the new curriculum 
 
29. Ensuring that RE and RSE forms part of the curriculum for all school learners 

would support learners to work towards the four purposes, and we believe there 
is a strong argument that these subject areas are necessary to produce ethical, 
informed citizens who are ready to be citizens of Wales and the world, and that 
schools have a role in providing neutral, comprehensive and accurate information 
to learners.  Part of the rationale for including RE and RSE as mandatory 
elements in the new curriculum is the importance of their contribution to the four 
purposes; it is unlikely that some of the key characteristics could be secured by 
learners without access to these subjects.     

 

30. There have been significant changes in society and the law since the introduction 
of the current curriculum.  In this modern and increasingly complex world we now 
live in, religious and non-religious world views permeate through much of 
people’s daily lives in one way or another. In order to equip a pupil for the modern 
world, schools must provide them with pluralistic, neutral and critical education on 
those religious and non-religious world views.  Similarly in terms of RSE pupils 
have available to them a vast amount of information though the internet.  That 
information can be accessed easily and in a number of different ways.  We 
believe that the state has a moral obligation to ensure that children in schools 
receive neutral and accurate information in these issues which pervade 
throughout society.    

 
31. Not including the right to withdraw would also support the interdisciplinary 

approach being adopted in the new curriculum.  There is already anecdotal 
evidence that schools and parents find it difficult to identify those lessons from 

                                                             
6 It is proposed that the new curriculum will be is organised around six ‘areas of learning and experience’: 
humanities; maths and numeracy; science and technology; expressive arts; literacy, languages and 
communication and health and wellbeing.    

Page 54



which their child should be withdrawn.  This situation is likely to be exacerbated 
by the interdisciplinary nature of the new curriculum, and it would be difficult to 
ensure that any right to withdraw was capable of being meaningfully exercised. 

 
What we are proposing? 
 
Right to withdraw from RE and RSE: 
 
32. We are proposing to not include a right to withdraw from RE and RSE in the new 

curriculum for Wales.  These lessons will be compulsory for all pupils. 
 
33. In coming to this proposal we have carefully considered the views expressed in 

the responses to the White Paper and to the consultation on the RSE guidance.  
It is clear that these are issues on which there are strong views, and we 
recognise that people are concerned about: 

 

 Developmental appropriateness, and that children should not be 
exposed to issues that they are not ready for;   

 Role / primacy of family in providing guidance on these issues; 

 The potential for there to be a lack of sensitivity to, or recognition of, 
different cultural or religious views; 

 The capacity and capability to provide learning in a nuanced and 
sensitive way; 

 Scope for unwanted conflict and disagreement. 
 
34. At the same time, there has been strong support for our proposal that sex 

education would be replaced by RSE.  The announcement was one of the most 
welcome and popular posts on our social media channels.   

 
35. We also believe that, in a world where access to information – and disinformation 

– is universal and instantaneous, the curriculum has a key role to play in helping 
children and young people navigate all this safely and be able to judge what 
information they can trust and to recognise the very many negative perspectives 
they will be exposed to online.     

36. Safeguarding all our young people and supporting them to navigate this complex 
world is vital.  Parents, of course, have a central role to play in this but there is a 
crucial role for schools – and a role which is now more important than it has ever 
been. 

 
37. On this basis we believe there is a strong principle-based case for all school 

learners to be guaranteed access to RE and RSE. For learners to fully benefit 
from a broad and balanced curriculum, they must be able to access all parts of 
the curriculum.  Within the new purpose-led approach (outlined above), both 
subjects have a central role to play in our children and young people receiving a 
broad and balanced education and realising the four purposes.   

 

Page 55

https://gov.wales/our-national-mission-transformational-curriculum
https://gov.wales/draft-guidance-relationships-and-sexuality-education


38. There has been a clear message from practitioners that the way forward on these 
issues is for Government to decide at a national level and should not be passed 
to schools to manage.   

 
39. In our increasingly complicated and rapidly changing world, the children and 

young people of Wales have a need and a right to receive consistent, factual and 
developmentally-appropriate learning about the issues covered in these subjects.  
This is important as part of the development of a more inclusive and tolerant 
society.  High quality RSE and RE provision in schools supports children and 
young people to stay safe, to respect one another, and to build healthy 
relationships. These are important values we want all young people in Wales to 
develop to allow young people to be ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the 
world and healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued 
members of society.  
 

40. We carefully considered whether providing a mechanism for parents to withdraw 
their children from RE and RSE would be appropriate in the new curriculum.  We 
recognised that the ability to withdraw was important to some parents and that 
some parents take the view these are primarily matters for parents and families to 
educate in relation to.  We also considered the potential role of right to withdraw 
in circumstances where there were concerns that teaching and learning was not 
pluralistic.  We concluded that a right to withdraw was not the appropriate 
mechanism to deal with this and the practice in the particular school should be 
being addressed.  This has already been identified as an area where investment 
in professional learning and resources will be required to support practitioners.  
There is also a role for self-assessment to identify where practice can be 
improved and to consider how the Regional Consortia and Estyn can help identify 
and support action to improve practice in this area. 
 

41. We concluded that the principle-based case for all children and young people to 
have access to learning on these issues was very strong and that there would be 
practical difficulties in operating withdrawals in this much more integrated 
curriculum.  We also concluded that the focus on developmentally appropriate 
and culturally sensitive teaching and learning; and the emphasis on engagement 
with communities and recognising and responding to the background of learners 
in discussing these subjects, would provide appropriate safeguards for parents. 
 

42. On balance, not including the right to withdraw best meets our overall policy 
objectives, which are: 

 For all learners to be able to access a curriculum which enables them 
to progress in relation to the four purposes 

 For the education system to play its part in creating a more inclusive 
and tolerant society and maximise its contribution to the well-being 
goals in the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

 To recognise the role of parents and families in guiding these children 
in relation to these issues 

 To recognise, and respond to, the interests of all groups and promote 
equality 

 To not increase the burden on schools or the workload of teachers 
 

Page 56



43. Whilst we feel that schools have a crucial role to play in supporting learners to 
develop tolerance, empathy and understanding of different people and 
communities, and of both their rights and the rights of others, this does not mean 
that this proposal will replace parents’ vital role in educating their children.  The 
learning provided to our children and young people through RSE and RE in 
maintained schools will be provided sensitively and inclusively to complement it.  
The guidance on these subject areas will make it clear that the information 
covered must be conveyed in an objective, critical and pluralistic manner. 

 
44. We will be carrying out meaningful and sustained engagement with communities 

about the content of RSE in the new curriculum and the way in which it will be 
taught.  Also, we are establishing a working group to finalise the RSE guidance 
for the new curriculum and will seek to ensure that representatives from a variety 
of communities across Wales, including faith communities, are included and will 
be able to shape the final guidance.  

 
Change of name from RE  
 
45. Following the proposed change in name of Sex and Relationships Education 

(referred to as sex education in current legislation), to Relationships and 
Sexuality Education, which was done to reflect modern practice and approach to 
this subject area, we feel consideration should be given to the name Religious 
Education.  

 
46. RE provides opportunities for learners to explore the range of spiritual, 

philosophical, moral, social and cultural beliefs within their community, across 
Wales, and throughout the world. We feel the subject name should reflect what 
learners will be taught through RE. As such, we are proposing to change the 
name of Religious Education, so that it appropriately reflects teaching practice 
within the new curriculum, and allows for the exploration of all religious and 
philosophical beliefs, as well as other beliefs and world-views, including non-
religious world views.  Our preferred name is Religions and Worldviews. 

 

   

Impact assessment 
 
47. Alongside this consultation paper, we are publishing our draft impact 

assessment.  As no formal data is currently kept on the use of the right to 
withdraw, we have been dependent on anecdotal evidence from education 
practitioners.  Whilst this has been very helpful, we want to understand more 
about the practical impact of this proposal before a final decision is made.  

 
 
Human Rights 
 
48. We consider that the proposals to not include the right to withdraw in the new 

curriculum for the new mandatory elements of RE (or Religions and Worldviews 
as we are proposing it is renamed) and RSE is compatible with the rights 
protected by the Human Rights Act 1998. 

 

Page 57



49. The parental rights in the second sentence of Article 2 Protocol 1 will be 
appropriately respected if the RE and RSE provided does not involve 
indoctrination and is provided in an objective, critical and pluralistic manner. The 
rights of the learner in Article 9 will be appropriately respected by ensuring they 
do not miss out on vital curriculum content – content which is important not just in 
terms of making progress in relation to the four purposes but also in safeguarding 
them.  Their parents and wider community are free to provide education on RE 
(or Religions and Worldviews as we are proposing it is renamed) and RSE as 
they see fit outside of school. 

Page 58


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting held on 4 June 2019
	Minutes

	7 Constitution / Membership Update
	Appendix 2

	8 Approval of Annual Report 2018-2019
	10 Welsh Government Consultation on ensuring full access to the Curriculum
	Appendix 2


